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FEDERAL M NE SAFETY AND HELTH REVI EW COW S| ON
1730 K STREET 6TH FLOOR
WASHI NGTON, D.C. 20006

SECRETARY OF LABOR,
M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADM NI STRATI ON ( MSHA)

V. . Docket Nos. WEST 92-340
: WEST 92- 384
WYOM NG FUEL COMPANY,
n/ k/ a BASI N RESOURCES, | NC.

SECRETARY OF LABOR,
M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADM NI STRATI ON ( MBHA)

V. : Docket No. WVEST 93-186

EARL WHI TE, enpl oyed by
WYOM NG FUEL COWPANY, n/k/a
BASI N RESOURCES, | NC.

BEFORE: Jordan, Chairman; Backl ey, Doyle and Hol en, Conm ssioners
DECI SI ON
BY: Backl ey, Comm ssi oner

This consolidated civil penalty proceeding arises under the Federal M ne
Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. O 801 et seq. (1988)("M ne
Act" or "Act"). The Secretary of Labor has charged Basin Resources,
Inc. ("Basin") with two violations of 30 C.F. R 0O 75.316
FOOTNOTE 1
Commi ssi oner Backley is the only Conmm ssioner in the magjority on all
i ssues presented.
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(1991). Administrative Law Judge John J. Morris concluded that Basin
violated its ventilation plan and, thus, section 75.316 by: (1) making
an unaut horized, major change in its ventilation system and (2)
permtting excessive levels of nethane to accunmulate. 15 FMSHRC 1968,
1969-74, 1978-80 (Septenmber 1993)(ALJ). The judge al so determ ned that
the violation involving the change to the ventilation plan was

signi ficant and substantial ("S&S") but was not the result of Basin's
unwarrantable failure to conmply with the standard, and that the mne's
General Manager, Earl Wiite, had not "know ngly authorized, ordered, or
carried out" the violation within the neaning of section 110(c) of the
M ne Act, 30 U S.C. 0O 820(c). Id. at 1974-78, 1981-82. He deterni ned
that the methane violation was neither S&S nor the result of
unwarrantable failure. [1d. at 1980.

For the reasons that follow, the Conm ssion affirms in result the
judge's conclusion that Basin violated its ventilation plan by changi ng
its ventilation system remands the issue of whether that violation was
S&S; affirms the judge's deternminations that this violation was not the
result of unwarrantable failure and that White was not personally liable
for the violation under section 110(c); and reverses the judge's
determ nation that the methane accunul ati on violated Basin's ventilation
pl an.

AAAAAAAAAAA
FOOTNOTE 2
30 CF.R 0O 75.316 provided:

A ventilation system and nethane and dust control plan
and revisions thereof suitable to the conditions and the nining
system of the coal mne and approved by the Secretary shall be
adopted by the operator and set out in printed formon or before
June 28, 1970. The plan shall show the type and | ocation of
mechani cal ventilation equi pnent installed and operated in the
m ne, such additional or inproved equi prent as the Secretary
may require, the quantity and velocity of air reaching each
wor ki ng face, and such other information as the Secretary may
require. Such plan shall be reviewed by the operator and the
Secretary at |east every 6 nonths.

On Novenber 16, 1992, 30 C.F.R 0O 75.316 was superseded by 30 C.F.R
O 75. 370, which inposes simlar requirenments

FOOTNOTE 3

Wth respect to the ventilation change, all Conmi ssioners affirmin
result the judge's finding of violation. Wth respect to whether that
violation arose fromthe operator's unwarrantable failure, Comr ssioners
Backl ey, Doyle and Holen vote to affirmthe judge's deternination that
it did not. Conmm ssioners Backley, Doyle and Holen also affirmthe
judge's determination that White was not personally liable for the
vi ol ati on under section 110(c). Chairman Jordan di ssents on the
unwarrantabl e failure and section 110(c) issues. As to whether the
ventilation change violation was S&S, all Conmi ssioners vote to renmand
the issue. Chairnman Jordan and Conmi ssioner Backley do not reach the
i ssue of whether a final uncontested inm nent danger order can be used
to establish that a violation is S&S. Commi ssi oner Doyl e and
Commi ssi oner Hol en woul d reverse the judge's determ nation on that
i ssue. In Pennsylvania Electric Co., 12 FMSHRC 1562, 1563-65 (August



1990), aff'd on other grounds, 969 F.2d 1501 (3d Cir. 1992), the

Conmi ssion determined that the effect of an evenly split vote, in which
at least two Comm ssioners would affirma judge's decision, is to | eave
the decision standing as if affirnmed. No Conm ssioner votes to affirm
the judge's S&S determnation. As a corollary to those principles, the
vot e of Chairman Jordan and Comm ssi oner Backl ey, closest in effect to
the judge's decision, is the Comm ssion's disposition. Al
Commi ssi oners reverse the judge's finding of violation based on the

met hane accumul ati ons. Comni ssioners' separate opinions follow the
deci si on.
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l.

Factual and Procedural Background

On June 1, 1991, the Golden Eagle M ne, an underground coal mne in
Weston, Col orado was purchased from Woni ng Fuel Conmpany ("Womn ng
Fuel ") by Entech, Inc., the parent conpany of Basin. During that nonth,
the Northwest No. 1 section, where |longwall mning was bei ng conducted,
experienced nmethane |iberation problems. |In order to deal with the
situation, General Manager Earl White deci ded on Sunday, June 23, to
make a major change in the air flow Basin changed return entry No. 3
on the longwall's headgate side to an intake entry and converted intake
entries Nos. 2 and 3 on the tailgate side to return entries.

The next norning, Wiite tel ephoned I nspector Donal d Jordan of the
Department of Labor's Mne Safety and Health Adm nistration ("MSHA") and
i nformed himof the change. The follow ng norning, June 25, MSHA
I nspectors Jordan and Rol and Phel ps visited the mne, reviewed the
mne's ventilation plan, and confirmed that the plan's specified air
flowin the longwall section had been changed. |Inspector Jordan issued
wi t hdrawal order No. 3244406, pursuant to section 104(d)(2) of the Act,
30 U.S.C. O0814(d)(2), alleging that, by reversing the air flow, Basin
was out of conpliance with its ventilation plan, and that the violation
was S&S and the result of unwarrantable failure. The Secretary
subsequently filed
AAAAAAAAAAAA
FOOTNOTE 4

Order No. 3244406 states:

The nmethane, ventilation and dust control plan, approved April 16, 1991
was not in conpliance in the North West #1 Long Wall, MWU 009-0 in that
page 3 of this addendum shows #3 headgate entry as a return air course.
The air was redirected on 6-23-91 in this entry and it is now an intake
and in turn the air is coursed through #1 and #2 bl eeder entries toward
Ohe new proposed exhaust shaft. At the shaft, the air is coursed to #58
crosscut of the tailgate return.
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a civil penalty petition against Wiite, pursuant to section 110(c) of
the Act, alleging that White had know ngly authorized the violation

Later in the day on June 25, Inspectors Jordan and Phel ps i nspected the
Nort hwest No. 1 section. Using handheld nethane detectors, they
measur ed net hane concentrations of 4%to 5% and higher in the tailgate
area, four feet outby the Kennedy stoppings at crosscuts 62 and 63,
between the No. 3 and 4 tailgate entries. 15 FMSHRC at 1978; Tr. 35,
121-22. They also took two bottle sanples of the air, which, upon
testing, showed expl osive concen- trations of nmethane at 6.8% and 9.4%
Tr. 36-37, 123.

Based on these nethane levels, the inspectors issued an i nm nent danger
order to Basin pursuant to section 107(a) of the Act, 30 U.S.C. O
817(a). They also cited Basin under section 104(a) of the Act, 30
U.S.C. 0O81l4(a), alleging, as later nodified, that the nethane
concentration was an S&S violation of the ventilation plan and section
75.316. On June 28, 1991, MsSHA approved, with sone nodifications,
Basin's ventilation changes. Gov't Ex. M2; Tr. 165-66, 240-41, 405.

Fol I owi ng an evidentiary hearing, the judge concluded that, by altering
the air flowrequired by its plan w thout having obtai ned MSHA' s pri or
approval, Basin had failed to conply with its ventilation plan, thereby
violating section 75.316. 15 FMSHRC 1970-74. The judge based his
determination on a provision requiring prior approval set forth in an
MSHA cover letter, which he found was part of the ventilation plan
Id. at 1971-74. He concluded that the violation was S&S, finding that a
reasonabl e |ikelihood of injury had been established by the uncontested
i mm nent danger order. Id. at 1976. He further found that the
violation had not resulted from Basin's unwarrantable failure because
White had a good
AAAAAAAAAAA
FOOTNOTE 5

Citati on No. 3244408 states:

Met hane in excess of 4.0% and 5. 0% was present outby the Kennedy
stoppings in xcut #62 and #63 between #3 and #4 entries in the #3 side
of the NWLW Tailgate area. Also oxygen in amounts of 17.1% was
measured with hand held detectors at least 4 ft. outhby the stopping in
#62 crosscut. Both sanples were collected to substantiate this citation
and order. This was the main contributing factor to the issuance of
i mm nent danger order #3244407. ..

The citation was nodified on June 27, 1991, by citation No. 3244408-01

Citation no. 3244408 issued 06/25/91 is hereby nodified to add in part 8
that this is a violation of the nethane and ventilation and dust contro
pl an as approved on page 37, Novenber 15, 1990, and to change part 9.C
froma violation of 75.329 to 75. 316.
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faith, although m staken, belief that his actions conplied with the
Secretary's regulations. 1d. at 1976-78. The judge concl uded t hat

VWi te was not personally liable under section 110(c) for this violation
because his conduct was not "aggravated." Id. at 1981. Wth regard to
the cited met hane concentrations, the judge determ ned that the high
met hane | evels violated the plan and, thus, section 75.316. 1d. at
1978-80. He concl uded, however, that this methane violation was not S&S
or the result of Basin's unwarrantable failure. 1d. He assessed a
penalty of $300 for the first violation and $400 for the second
violation. 1d. at 1982.

The Conmi ssion granted the parties' cross-petitions for discretionary

review and heard oral argunment. The Secretary's petition sought review

of the judge's holdings that the ventilation change was not the result

of unwarrantable failure, that Wiite was not |iable under section

110(c), and that the nethane accumul ati on was not S&S or the result of
unwarrantable failure. Basin's petition sought review of the judge's
deterninations that the ventilation change and the nethane accumul ati ons
were violations and that the ventilation change violation was S&S

.
Di sposition
A.  Change in Ventilation
1. Validity of section 104(d)(2) order

As a threshold matter, Basin argues in its brief on review that the
section 104(d)(2) order alleging a violation based on the change in the
ventilation plan was procedurally defective. Basin argues that, because
the underlying section 104(d)(1) order was issued not to Basin but to
its predecessor, Wom ng Fuel, there was no "predicate" order in place
and, thus, a section 104(d)(2) order could not properly be issued. The
order citing the ventilation plan
FOOTNOTE 6

Al'l Conmissioners affirmin result the judge's conclusion that Basin
vi ol ated section 75.316 by failing to conply with the air flow
requirenents of its ventilation plan

FOOTNOTE 7

If an inspector finds a violation that is S&S and results from an
unwarrantabl e failure by the operator to conply, a citation noting those
findings is issued. This citation is comonly referred to as a "section
104(d) (1) citation" (30 U.S.C. 0O 814(d)(1)). Geenwich Collieries, Div.
of Pa. Mnes Corp., 12 FMSHRC 940, 945 (May 1990), citing Nacco M ning
Co., 9 FMSHRC 1541, 1545 n.6 (September 1987). |If, during the sanme
i nspection or a subsequent inspection within 90 days of such citation
anot her violation resulting fromunwarrantable failure is found, a
wi t hdrawal order is issued under section 104(d)(1) of the Act. This is
a "predicate" order. |If subsequent inspections of the mne revea
addi ti onal unwarrantable failure violations, wthdrawal orders are
i ssued under section 104(d)(2) of the Act until such tine as an



i nspection of the mne discloses no further unwarrantable failure
violations. Geenwich Collieries, 12 FMSHRC at 945.
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violation reflects that MSHA i ssued the predicate section 104(d) (1)
order to Wom ng Fuel on March 21, 1991. Basin raised this issue bel ow
but the judge did not rule on it.

Basin did not raise this issue in its petition for discretionary review,
nor did the Commission direct its review sua sponte. Under the M ne Act
and the Comm ssion's procedural rules, reviewis |linmted to the
guestions raised in the petition and by the Commi ssion sua sponte. 30
U S C 0823(d)(2)(A)(iii) and (B); 29 C.F.R O 2700.70(f) (1993).
Therefore, Basin's procedural challenge is not properly before the
Conmi ssi on.

2. Violation

Under section 75.316, which repeated the |anguage in section 303(0) of
the Mne Act, 30 U.S.C. [ 863(0), an operator was required to adopt and
operate under "a ventilation system and nmethane and dust control plan
and revisions thereof" that have been approved by the Secretary. The
judge deternmi ned that Basin violated section 75.316 because it failed to
obtain MSHA's prior approval before changing the air flow 15 FMSHRC at
1970-74. He found that a prior approval requirenment was contained in an
MSHA cover letter attached to the mine's ventilation plan, adopted by
Basin from Wom ng Fuel. 1d. at 1974. Basin argues that it had no
notice that MSHA's prior approval was necessary and that it was not
aware of the cover letter. B. Br. 15-18. The Secretary responds that
the cover letter was an effective part of the plan. S. Reply Br. 8-12.
AAAAAAAAAA
FOOTNOTE 8

Section 104(d)(2) provides:

If a withdrawal order with respect to any area in a coa
or other m ne has been issued pursuant to paragraph (1), a
wi t hdrawal order shall pronptly be issued by an authorized
representative of the Secretary who finds upon any subsequent
i nspection the existence in such mne of violations simlar to
those that resulted in the issuance of the w thdrawal order
under paragraph (1) until such time as an inspection of
such mne discloses no sinmlar violations. Follow ng an
i nspection of such mne which discloses no sinilar violations,
the provisions of paragraph (1) shall again be applicable to
that mne

30 U.S.C. 0O 814(d)(2)(enphasis added).

We note that the plain | anguage of section 104(d)(2) addresses repeated
violations at a mine, regardl ess of ownership. Section 104(d)(2) lifts
the probationary chain only when the m ne passes an inspection w thout
an unwarrantable failure violation. Mreover, even if the section
104(d) (2) order were nodified, the allegations of violation would
survive. See Consolidation Coal Co., 4 FMSHRC 1791, 1794-98 (Cctober
1982). The judge's failure to rule on Basin's argunent was harnl ess
error.
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We conclude that the cover letter, upon which the judge relied, nerely
reiterated to the operator that, under section 75.316, a ventilation
pl an and revisions thereof nust first be approved by MSHA. For the
reasons set forth below, we reject as unreasonable the assertion of
counsel for the Secretary at oral argunent that, absent the cover
letter, Basin's ventilation change woul d not have required prior
approval. Oral Arg. Tr. 27-30.

Once a ventilation plan is approved and adopted, its provisions and
revi sions are enforceable as mandatory standards. UMM v. Dole, 870
F.2d 662, 671 (D.C. Cir. 1989); Zeigler Coal Co. v. Kl eppe, 536 F.2d
398, 409 (D.C. Cir. 1976); Freeman United Coal Mning Co., 11 FMSHRC
161, 164 (February 1989); Jim Walter Resources, Inc., 9 FMSHRC 903, 907
(May 1987). Basin's ventilation plan required use of the No. 3 headgate
entry as a return entry and tailgate entries No. 2 and 3 as intake
entries. Gov't Ex. M1 (ventilation diagramlabeled p. 3). There is
no di spute that, on June 23, Basin converted the No. 3 headgate entry to
an intake entry and the two tailgate entries to return entries. It is
al so undi sputed that Basin did not secure MSHA's prior approval. This
unil ateral, major change in the ventilation systemconstituted a failure
to conply with the approved plan and viol ated section 75.316. W note
the regulatory history of current section 75.370, the successor to
section 75.316. The preanble to section 75.370 states that MSHA' s
"existing practice" under section 75.316 required prior approval of
proposed major revisions. 57 Fed. Reg. 20868, 20899 (May 15, 1992).
Both the M ne Act and the Secretary's regul ations recognize the
potential dangers attendant upon nmgjor ventilation changes by setting
forth procedures for inplementation of such changes. 30 U . S.C. 0O 863(u);
30 CF.R 0O 75.322 (1991), superseded by 30 C.F.R [0 75.324 (1992).

The Commi ssion rejects, as did the judge, Basin's assertion that 30
C.F.R 0 75.308 and 75.309(a) (1991) undercut any requirenent of prior
approval because those regul ations authorized ventilation "changes or
adj ust ment s" when net hane reached 1% in face areas and return
ai rcourses. 15 FMSHRC at 1974. The "changes or adjustnments” in those
sections referred only to "increasing the quantity of air ... or
i mproving the distribution of air." 30 CF. R 0O 75.308-1, 75.309-3
(1991). As noted, Wiite's air reversal was a major ventilation change.
AAAAAAAAAAAAAA
FOOTNOTE 9

We note further that the Secretary was unable to produce the cover
| etter during discovery and did not do so until the hearing. 15 FMSHRC
at 1973; Tr. 362-64.

FOOTNOTE 10
In 1992, sections 75.308 and 75.309(a) were superseded by 30 C. F.R
75.323(b) (ii), 75.323(c), and 75.323(d)(2)(i), which inpose simlar
requi renents.
FOOTNOTE 11
Simlarly, we reject Basin's suggestion, mde at oral argunment, that the

ventilation change was authorized by a plan provision that mrrored 30
C.F.R 0O75.308 (1991). Gov't Ex. M 1, p. 17; Oal Arg. Tr. 9-13.
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For the foregoing reasons, the Commi ssion concludes that Basin did not
conmply with its plan when it unilaterally changed the air flow and,
accordingly, that Basin violated section 75.316. The Comri ssion affirns
inresult the judge's finding of violation

3. S&S

The S&S term nology is taken from section 104(d) of the Mne Act, 30
U.S.C. O814(d), and refers to nore serious violations. A violation is
S&S if, based on the particular facts surrounding the violation, there
exi sts a reasonabl e |ikelihood that the hazard contributed to by the

violation will result in an injury or illness of a reasonably serious
nature. Cenent Division, National Gypsum Co., 3 FMSHRC 822, 825-26
(April 1981). In Mathies Coal Co., 6 FMSHRC 1 (January 1984), the

Commi ssi on further expl ained:

In order to establish that a violation of a mandatory safety
standard is significant and substantial under National Gypsum the
Secretary of Labor nmust prove: (1) the underlying violation of a
mandat ory safety standard; (2) a discrete safety hazard -- that is,
a nmeasure of danger to safety -- contributed to by the violation
(3) a reasonable likelihood that the hazard contributed to will
result in an injury; and (4) a reasonable likelihood that the injury
in question will be of a reasonably serious nature.

Id. at 3-4; see also Austin Power, Inc. v. Secretary, 861 F.2d 99,
103-04 (5th Cir. 1988), aff'g, 9 FMSHRC 2015, 2021 (Decenber 1987)
(approving Mathies criteria). An evaluation of the reasonable

i kelihood of injury should be made assunmi ng continued normal mning
operations. U S. Steel Mning Co., 7 FMSHRC 1125, 1130 (August 1985).

The major dispute on reviewis the third Mathies el enent, a reasonable
likelihood of resulting injury. The judge, focusing solely on the
somewhat specul ative terns used by the inspectors, found that the
Secretary had failed to establish that el ement. 15 FMSHRC at 1975-76.
The judge determ ned, however, that the uncontested i mm nent danger
order established a reasonable |ikelihood that the hazard contributed to
would result in an injury. 1d. The judge's conclusion regarding the
precl usive effect of the uncontested i minent danger order fails to
provi de any anal ysis nor does it direct us to any relevant |ega
authority.

Basin asserts, also without providing us with any rel evant |ega
authority, that, as a matter of law, an uncontested inm nent danger
order cannot provide a basis for sustaining an
FOOTNOTE 12

Al'l Conm ssioners vote to remand the judge's S&S determ nation
Chai rman Jordan and Conmi ssi oner Backley do not reach the judge's
determination that a final uncontested i mm nent danger order established
the facts alleged in that order. Conm ssioners Doyle and Hol en vote to
reverse that holding. Accordingly, this section of the decision
reflects the rationale of Chairman Jordan and Conm ssi oner Backley. See
n.3, supra.
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S&S designation. Basin argues further that if allegations in an
uncontested i nm nent danger order are held to establish the S&S el enent
of arelated citation as a matter of |aw, "operators would be forced to
litigate i mm nent danger orders nerely to preserve the opportunity to
litigate a '"significant and substantial' allegation in a related
citation." B. Reply Br. 5. Finally, Basin asserts that, in any event,
by the tinme the inm nent danger order was issued on June 25, Basin had
returned to use of the plan's approved ventilation schene so that the
conditions referenced in the order could not have been linked to the
earlier air reversal

The Secretary relies, wthout discussion or reference to relevant
citations, on the judge's conclusion that the imm nent danger order
established the third step of the Mathies test. The Secretary fails to
address the policy issue raised by Basin concerning needless litigation,
and limts his S&S argunent to contendi ng that the weight of the
evi dence denonstrates that Basin had not changed the air back when the
hi gh net hane concentrati ons were found and that, accordingly, the
concentrations stemed fromthe inperm ssible change to the ventilation

The Conmi ssion need not resolve in this case whether, as a general rule,
an uncontested i nm nent danger order nmay be used to establish a
reasonabl e likelihood of injury in a related citation. Cf. generally
Ranger Fuel Corp., 12 FMSHRC 363, 370-73 (March 1990). Here, regardless
of the fact that the inspectors issued the order, the record evidence
supports a finding that a dangerous condition reasonably likely to |ead
to injury existed on the afternoon of June 25. It is uncontroverted
t hat expl osive | evels of nethane were detected at that time in an area
contai ning several ignition sources. Tr. 123-24. Mbdreover, the Gol den
Eagle Mne is a highly gassy mne |iberating over 1,000,000 cubic feet
of methane during a 24-hour period and is subject to five-day spot
i nspection pursuant to section 103(i) of the Mne Act, 30 US.C. O
813(i). Tr. 25. In addition, the m ne had experienced a very serious
met hane expl osion only five nonths prior to the air reversal. See 15
FMSHRC at 1978; Tr. 38-39. The judge, relying solely on the iminent
danger order for his S&S findings, overlooked all of this evidence.
Accordingly, we vacate the judge's finding that the Secretary failed to
of fer evidence establishing the reasonable |ikelihood of injury.

Under Mathies, the Secretary nust show that the hazardous condition is
caused by the violation of the cited safety standard in order to neke
out the special finding of S&. Here the hazardous condition invol ved
met hane accumnul ati ons. The cited violation concerned the operator's
failure to conply with the approved ventilation plan. The unanswered
guestion is whether the deviation fromthe ventilation plan caused the
nmet hane accumul ati ons. The judge's decision fails to address the causa
link required under Mathies.

The record evidence linking the nethane levels to the air flow change is
controverted. The inspectors testified that the explosive |evels of
met hane that they detected resulted fromBasin's air reversal and
reflected the serious hazards associated with the reversal. Tr. 35-36,
54, 123-24. Inspector Jordan testified that when he neasured the
nmet hane | evel s on June 25, the intake and return entries were stil
functioning in the altered formthat General Manager VWite had
i mpl emented. Tr. 374-76. Jordan's contenporaneous notes support his



testi nmony.
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Id. Jordan's testinony was further supported by former mnine forenman
Davi d Huey, who testified that Wiite's ventilation changes remained in
effect until later in the week. Tr. 86- 87. White, on the other hand,
mai nt ai ned that, on June 25, before Inspector Jordan took the methane
measurenents, Huey and anot her nmanager had already returned the intake
and return entries to the pre-June 23 configuration. Tr. 211-15.

The Conmmission is bound by the terns of the Mne Act to apply the
substantial evidence test when review ng an adm nistrative |aw judge's
factual determinations. 30 U.S.C. 0O 823(d)(2)(A(ii)(l). That standard
of review requires that a fact finder weigh all probative record
evi dence and that a reviewi ng body exam ne the fact finder's rationale
inarriving at his decision. Md-Continent Resources, Inc., 16 FMSHRC
1218, 1222 (June 1994), citing Universal Canera Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U S.
474, 487-89 (1951). A judge nust analyze and wei gh the rel evant
testi nmony, nmeke appropriate findings, and explain the reasons for his
decision. Md-Continent, 16 FMSHRC at 1222, citing Anaconda Co., 3
FMSHRC 299, 299-300 (February 1981).

The judge failed to anal yze any of the evidence concerni ng whet her the
met hane accumnul ations were, in fact, caused by the air reversal. Nor
did he make a finding concerning this issue of causality. Accordingly,
we vacate the judge's conclusion that the violation was S&S, and remand
for further analysis consistent with this decision.

4. Unwarrantable Failure

The unwarrantable failure term nology is taken from section 104(d) of
the Act and refers to nore serious conduct by an operator in connection
with a violation. 1In Emery Mning Corp., 9 FMSHRC 1997 (Decenber 1987),
t he Comm ssion deternmined that unwarrantable failure is aggravated
conduct constituting nore than ordinary negligence. 1d. at 2001. This
determ nation was derived, in part, fromthe plain neaning of
"unwarrantabl e" ("not justifiable" or "inexcusable"), "failure"

("negl ect of an assigned, expected or appropriate action"), and
"negligence" (the failure to use such care as a reasonably prudent and
careful person would use, characterized by "inadvertence,"

"t houghtl essness,” and "inattention"). 1d. Unwarrantable failure is
characterized by such conduct as "reckless disregard,” "intentiona

m sconduct,” "indifference" or a "serious |ack of reasonable care.” 1d.
at at 2003-04; Rochester & Pittsburgh Coal Corp., 13 FMSHRC 189, 193-94
(February 1991). This determ nation was al so based on the purpose of
the unwarrantable failure sanctions in the Mne Act, the Act's

| egi slative history, and judicial precedent. Emery, 9 FMSHRC at
2002-03.

AAAAAAAAAA

FOOTNOTE 13

Commi ssi oners Backl ey, Doyle and Hol en vote to affirmthe judge's
finding that this violation did not result from Basin's unwarrantable
failure to conply with the standard. Chairnan Jordan votes to vacate
and remand. This section of the decision is based on the rational e of
Commi ssi oners Backl ey, Doyle and Hol en
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In anal yzi ng whether the violation arose from Basin's unwarrantabl e
failure, the judge exam ned General Manager Earl Wite's conduct because
it was Wiite who decided to nmake the ventilation change. The judge
found that White believed that section 75.316 did not require MSHA s
prior approval of the change. 15 FMSHRC at 1976-78. The judge reasoned
that "there cannot be an unwarrantable failure resulting froma good
faith, although m staken belief that [an operator's] actions were in
conpliance with regulations." |d. at 1977 (citations onmtted). The
judge is correct that, under Comm ssion caselaw, unwarrantable failure
does not result fromgood faith, although mi staken, belief that an
operator was complying with regulations. Florence Mning Co., 11 FMSHRC
747, 754 (May 1989).

The Secretary argues that White, as m ne manager, should have known t hat

prior approval was required and that, according to Comr ssion cases,
Basin's conduct was unwarrantable. S. Br. 8-11 & n.7. Citing Virginia
Crews Coal Co., 15 FMSHRC 2103 (October 1993), Basin asserts that this
is insufficient to establish unwarrantable failure. B. Br. 24. Basin
is correct that, according to Comm ssion precedent, a "should have
known" standard is not determ native of unwarrantable failure. Virginia
Crews, 15 FMSHRC at 2107. "Use of a 'knew or should have known' test by
itself would nmake unwarrantable failure indistinguishable from ordinary
negligence." 1d. Here, as in Virginia Crews, we reject such an
interpretation of the Comm ssion's decision in Enery. Id.

The Secretary objects to the judge's finding on the grounds that he
shoul d have determined not only that White had a good faith belief but
whet her, under the totality of the circunstances, that belief was
reasonable. The Secretary further contends that the weight of evidence
denonstrates that White's belief was not reasonable. In response, Basin
asserts that substantial evidence supports the judge's determ nation.

The Secretary is correct that the operator's good faith belief nust be
reasonabl e under the circunstances. Cyprus Plateau Mning Corp., No.
VEST 92-371-R, 16 FMSHRC __ , slip. op. at 6 (August 26, 1994); see
Sout hern Ohio Coal Co., 13 FMSHRC 912, 919 (June 1991), citing Uah
Power & Light Co., 12 FMSHRC 965, 972 (May 1990), aff'd, 951 F.2d 292
(10th Cir. 1991). Moreover, the Commi ssion has used a sinilar approach
in work refusal cases under section 105(c) of the Mne Act, 30 U S.C. O
815(c). A miner's work refusal constitutes protected activity when he
has a good faith belief that the work involves a hazard and that belief
is al so reasonable. See Paula Price v. Monterey Coal Co., 12 FMSHRC
1505, 1515 (August 1990).

It is undisputed that, in directing the ventilation change, Wite was
attenpting to inmprove the nmine's ventilation. 1In June 1991, the
Nort hwest No. 1 longwall section was experiencing serious methane
i beration problens. Follow ng a nunber of unsuccessful adjustnents
(Tr. 219-21, 306-07), Wite decided to make the reversal in order to
deliver nmore intake air to that section. Tr. 396. The judge found that
White reasonably believed that "he could have been cited for failing to
correct the problens in the ventilation system" 15 FMSHRC at 1977.
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The Secretary's evidentiary objections to the judge's findings are
unper suasi ve. The Secretary argues that two of White's subordinates
i nformed himthat MSHA shoul d be notified before maki ng the contenpl at ed
changes. The judge found that Wite responded by consulting 30 C.F. R
Part 75 and, in particular, section 75.316, but found no requirenent for
such prior approval. 15 FMSHRC at 1977. Section 75.370(c), which
super seded section 75.316, now explicitly requires that major changes to
the ventilation system "shall be submitted to and approved by the
district manager before inplenmentation.” The earlier standard, in
effect at the time, did not contain this express requirement. Moreover,
I nspector W IIliam Denning conceded that, under the regulations in place
in June 1991, there was no gui dance for mne operators as to the type of
changes that could or could not be made wi thout prior approval. Tr.
162-63. The Secretary's position at oral argunent that, absent the
cover letter, prior approval was not required (Oral Arg. Tr. 27-30),
further supports the reasonabl eness of the operator's belief that, based
on the | anguage of the regulation, prior approval was not required. The
Commi ssi on does not find unreasonable Wiite's good faith belief that
prior approval was not required.

The Secretary further asserts that Wiite's belief was unreasonabl e based
on I nspector Jordan's testinony that, one week before the air reversal
he advi sed White that MSHA approval was necessary for ventilation
changes. The inspector stated, "W had discussed it and, if | renmenber
correctly, | indicated to M. Wite, whatever he did, to make sure that
approval was obtai ned before it was done." Tr. 53 (enphasis added).
VWi te deni ed discussing a prior approval requirenent with anyone from
MSHA. Tr. 264. The inspector's testinony was uncertain; it does not
overcome the substantial evidence supporting the judge's determ nation
that White, whose testinony the judge credited, had a good faith belief
that he was conplying with the regulations. 15 FMSHRC at 1977-78. The
Commi ssi on has often enphasized that a judge's credibility
determ nations may not be overturned lightly. E. g. Quinland Coals,
Inc., 9 FMSHRC 1614, 1618 (Septenber 1987).

Substantial evidence supports the judge's conclusion that Basin had a
good faith, although mi staken, belief that it was complying with the
Secretary's regul ations when it attenpted to i nprove the safety of the
mne's ventilation system The judge inplicitly found that Wite's
beli ef was reasonabl e under the circunmstances and that determ nation
al so has substantial support in the record. Accordingly, the Comm ssion
affirns the judge's determ nation that Basin's conduct was not
aggravated and, thus, that the violation did not result from
unwar rant abl e failure.

B. Section 110(c) Liability

Section 110(c) of the Mne Act provides that, whenever a corporate
operator violates
FOOTNOTE 14

Commi ssi oners Backl ey, Doyle and Hol en vote to affirmthe judge's
determ nation that White was not |liable for the violation under section
110(c) of the Act. Chairman Jordan votes to vacate and remand. This
section of the decision is based on the rationale of Conm ssioners



Backl ey, Doyl e and Hol en.
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a mandatory safety or health standard, any agent of the corporate
operator who "know ngly authorized, ordered, or carried out such

vi ol ation" shall be subject to civil penalty. 30 U.S.C. O 820(c). The
Conmi ssion has held that a "violation under section 110(c) involves
aggravat ed conduct, not ordinary negligence.” BethEnergy Mnes, Inc.
14 FMSHRC 1232, 1245 (August 1992).

The judge determ ned that the General Manager, Earl Wite, had not
knowi ngly authorized the violation. The Secretary contends that all the
evi dence supporting a finding that the ventilation change resulted from
Basin's unwarrantable failure al so conpels a conclusion that Wite
shoul d be held Iiable under section 110(c). VWhite responds that his
reasonabl e, good faith belief that he was acting within the regul ati ons
to i nprove safety precludes a finding of section 110(c) liability.

Substantial evidence supports the judge's conclusion that White is not
liable. Wite's concern in inplenmenting the ventilation change was
safety; he was attenpting to rectify a serious ventilation problem The
judge found that, although Wite was m staken, he had a good faith
belief that he did not need MSHA's prior approval for the ventilation
change. 15 FMSHRC at 1977. The Comm ssion has affirmed the judge's
inplicit finding that White's belief was reasonable. The Commi ssion
concl udes that substantial evidence supports the judge's determ nation
that White did not engage in aggravated conduct and affirns the judge's
di sm ssal of the section 110(c) conpl aint.

C. High Methane Levels

The second citation, as nmodified, alleged that Basin violated its
ventilation plan in that the mne's bl eeder systenms were to neet or
exceed the criteria set forth in 30 CF. R 0O 75.316-2(e) through
(i)(1991). See CGov't Ex. M1, p. 37. The judge found a violation
AAAAAAAAAAAAAA
FOOTNOTE 15

Al'l Conmi ssioners reverse the judge's determ nation of violation with
respect to the nethane accumul ati ons.

FOOTNOTE 16
Section 75.316-2, in effect in June 1991, provided in relevant part:

(h) The nmethane content of the air current in the bl eeder
split at the point where such split enters any other air split
shoul d not exceed 2.0 volune per centum

(i) When the return aircourses fromall or part of the bl eeder
entries of a gob area and air other than that used to ventilate the
gob area is passing through the return aircourses, the bl eeder
connectors between the return aircourses and the gob shall be
consi dered as bl eeder entries and the concentration of nethane should
not exceed 2.0 volune per centumat the intersection of the bl eeder
connectors and the return aircourses.

In 1992, these provisions were superseded by 30 CF.R O
75.323(e).
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because the MSHA inspectors neasured nmethane levels of 4% to 5% and nore
in the tailgate section four feet fromthe Kennedy stoppings at
crosscuts 62 and 63, some 60 feet fromthe No. 3 return entry. 15 FMSHRC
at 1978. He determ ned that the inspector "neasured the nethane at the
proper |ocation and manner." 1d. at 1980. Basin argues that MSHA
measured the nethane at a |ocation other than that required by the plan
It asserts that the readings were taken no nore than four feet outhy the
st oppi ngs separating the gob fromthe bl eeder taps, 50 to 60 feet inby
fromwhere the nmeasurenents shoul d have been taken, i.e., the nixing
poi nt where the bl eeder connectors intersect the return entry. The
Secretary counters that the neasurements were taken at the appropriate
pl ace and that the ventilation change caused inperm ssible |evels of

met hane to accunulate in the section

As discussed earlier, we are bound by the substantial evidence test when
reviewing an administrative |aw judge's factual determ nations. The
Commi ssion is guided by the settled principle that, in review ng the
record, an appellate tribunal nust consider anything in the record that
"fairly detracts" fromthe weight of the evidence that supports a
chal | enged finding. Universal Canera Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U.S. at 488.

The cited plan provisions address nethane |evels at the intersection of
bl eeder connectors and return air courses (n.16, supra). The record
evi dence, relied on by the judge (15 FMSHRC at 1978), reveals that the
i nspectors neasured the methane at two |locations in the bl eeder
connectors nearly 60 feet inby the m xing point where the connectors
intersect the return entry. The Secretary presented no evi dence or
argunent that these locations were valid testing points for the
bl eeder-return intersections. Thus, the judge's finding that the
measurenents were taken at proper |ocations |acks substantia
evidentiary support, and the Conm ssion reverses his determ nation of
vi ol ati on.

Ri chard V. Backl ey, Comm ssioner

The separate opinions of Commr ssioners follow.
e
FOOTNOTE 17

We do not reach the S&S and unwarrantabl e failure i ssues associated with
this violation. W note, however, that the Secretary argued on review
that Basin's nmethane violation was the result of unwarrantable failure,
al t hough he neither charged this nor argued the point below. In his
deci sion, the judge inadvertently addressed unwarrantable failure and
found that such an allegation had not been proven.
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Conmi ssi oner Doyl e and Conmi ssioner Holen, concurring in part and dissenting
in part:

We concur with the opinion in all respects except that we nust
respectfully dissent in part fromthe rationale set forth for the
determ nation of whether the violation based on the ventilation change
was significant and substantial ("S&S").

We agree with the judge that Inspector Jordan's testinony to the
effect that "anything that has the potential for serious injury or bodily
harmis automatically significant and substantial” and his further testinony
that "it is only a 'guesstimate’” as to the consequences of the violation
conflict with the Comm ssion's settled |law. 15 FMSHRC at 1975. Under
Commi ssi on precedent, neither statenment would support an S&S fi ndi ng.
Mat hi es Coal Co., 6 FMSHRC 1, 3-4 (January 1984).

We believe that our colleagues err in failing to reach the issue
on which the judge based his decision, i.e., that an uncontested i mr nent
danger order, by virtue of being a final Comr ssion order, establishes that
an i nmm nent danger actually existed. 15 FMSHRC at 1976. They remand for
further analysis of the evidence. Slip op. at 10. Although we agree that
further analysis is required, the i nm nent danger order issue should be
decided at this stage. The judge's ruling on the effect of the imm nent
danger order served as the sole basis for his S&S finding and nust be
di sposed of before the adequacy of the judge's analysis of the record
evi dence is reached. Further, should the judge on renmand again find that
the Secretary failed to establish S&S, his conclusion on the effect of
the i mm nent danger order would be left standing and anot her Commi ssion
proceedi ng woul d be required to decide that issue.

We woul d reverse the judge's determ nation. Section 107(e) (1)
of the Mne Act provides operators with the opportunity to chall enge
section 107(a) inm nent danger orders within 30 days after issuance. 30
U S.C 0O817. The finality of such orders is not referenced in the M ne
Act, except in section 111, as a basis for conpensation to mners who
are idled as a consequence. 30 U.S.C. 0O 821. The judge's opinion appears
to be based on a theory that the iminent danger order, as a final order
of the Conmmi ssion, is equivalent to a final judgment on a litigated issue.
Under this theory, Basin is prohibited, presumably under the doctrine of
either res judicata or collateral estoppel, fromchall engi ng whether an
i mm nent danger actually existed on June 25. W disagree that this is
the effect of a final immnent danger order

The judge offers no I egal theory or other basis for his conclusion
that the allegations set forth in a final imm nent danger order can be
used in another proceeding to irrebuttably establish those allegations.
The M ne Act and Conmi ssion precedent address the finality of an inm nent
danger order only in the context of conpensation proceedi ngs arising under
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section 111. The doctrines of res judicata and col |l ateral estoppel would

not preclude challenge to such a final order because those doctrines

require the claimor issue to have been previously litigated. Moreover

t hose doctrines have "the dual purpose of protecting litigants fromthe
burden of relitigating an identical issue with the same party or his privy
and of promoting judicial econony by preventing needless litigation."
Par kl ane Hosiery Co. v. Shore, 439 U S. 322, 326 (1979), citing Bl onder-
Tongue Lab., Inc. v. University of Ill. Found., 402 U S. 313, 328-329 (1971).

Here, neither purpose would be served. Presently, an operator has,
in nost instances, no reason to contest an inm nent danger order unless
conpensation is in issue. Penalties are not assessed in connection with
an i mm nent danger order. Nor are alleged violations giving rise to an
i mm nent danger order part of the imr nent danger order itself, but rather
are set forth in other citations and orders issued in connection with the
dangerous condition, as was the case here. Under the judge's |ogic,
operators desiring to avoid a per se finding of reasonable |ikelihood of
injury, the third el ement of the Commission's S&S test, would need to
litigate each and every inmminent danger order, irrespective of whether
conpensation were in issue. Where no immnent danger was found, the
reasonabl e Iikelihood allegation, which could be based on a | ess dangerous
and less immedi ate threat to safety, would still be in issue and subject to
litigation.

To the extent our colleagues' opinion suggests that Ranger Fue
Corp., 12 FMSHRC 363 (March 1990), woul d support the judge's concl usion,
we believe it is in error. Slip op. at 9. Ranger is not relevant here.
That case involved section 111 conpensation to mners arising from an
i mm nent danger withdrawal order. Under section 111, linmited conpensation
is payable to miners irrespective of the validity of the w thdrawal order
but the further compensati on sought in Ranger was contingent upon the
rel evant order beconming "final." 30 U S.C 0821; 12 FMSHRC at 373.
The operator attenpted to contest the validity of a final inmmnent
danger order in the conpensation proceedi ng although, under section 111
the chal | enged conpensati on was conti ngent only upon the order being
final, not on the actual existence of an imr nent danger. See 30 U.S.C.
0 821. The Commi ssion denied Ranger's chall enge. 12 FMSHRC at 373. Here
the issue is not whether the order is final but whether a fina
unlitigated inm nent danger order can be used in a penalty proceeding
to irrebuttably establish that an i nm nent danger actually existed.

W join in vacating the judge's determination that the Secretary
had failed to offer evidence establishing reasonable |ikelihood of injury.
On remand, we woul d ask the judge for further analysis of the record,

i ncludi ng I nspector Denning's testinony that the ventilation change

i mpl enmented by the operator caused nmethane to accunulate in the tailgate
as well as his testinony that such accunul ation, along with the ignition
source of the | ongwal
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equi prent, had, in fact, created an i mrnent danger. Tr. at 123-24.

We woul d al so ask the judge to resolve expressly whether the ventilation
change instituted by M. VWiite remained in effect at the tine of the
citation. Contrary to our colleagues' view, we would |eave to the judge
t he eval uati on of whether an explosion five nonths earlier is relevant.
Slip op. at 9.

Joyce A. Doyl e, Conm ssioner

Arl ene Hol en, Conm ssi oner
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Chai rman Jordan, concurring in part and dissenting in part:

I concur with Parts I., Il. A 1-3, and Il. C. of the opinion. |
cannot join ny col- leagues in affirm ng the judge's determination that
t he unaut hori zed change to the ventilation plan was not the result of
the operator's unwarrantable failure to conmply with 30 CF. R 0O 75. 316
(1991). | also dissent fromthe majority's section 110(c), 30 U.S.C. O
820(c), determ nation.

l.

The judge decided that the allegations of unwarrantable failure should
be stricken because "the operator through its manager [Earl White] had a
good faith honest belief that he was conplying with the regulations.” 15
FMSHRC at 1978. | find this conclusion lacking in two respects. First,
the judge based his good faith finding on irreconcilably conflicting
credibility determinations and failed to analyze inmportant record
evi dence bearing on good faith. Second, the judge has failed to
deternine the reasonabl eness of any belief on White's part that his
actions constituted the safest way of adhering to the requirenments of
section 75.316. The judge's failure to analyze the reasonabl eness of
VWite's belief is particularly troublesone in light of significant
record evidence that casts doubt on Basin's claimthat \Wite reasonably
beli eved he did not need the approval of the Department of Labor's M ne
Safety and Health Admi nistration ("MSHA") before reversing the air flow
fromthe configu- ration set forth in the ventilation plan.
Accordingly, | would vacate the judge's finding that there was no
unwarrantable failure and remand it for further consideration consistent
with the analysis contained in this opinion.

The viol ation occurred when White unilaterally revised the ventilation
system on Sunday, June 23, 1991, so that it deviated substantially from
the ventilation plan that had been approved by MSHA. Basin nmintains
that White reasonably and in good faith believed that section 75.316
permtted himto inplement the major ventilation changes that were
carried out on June 23 before obtaining MSHA's approval. The question
to be determined is whether the judge properly analyzed the twin factors
of reasonabl eness and good faith in the context of the circumstances
confronting White at the tinme.

The Comm ssion has held that "if an operator reasonably believes in good
faith that the cited conduct is the safest nethod of conpliance with
applicable regulations, even if it is in error," the operator will not
be found to have acted with the aggravated conduct necessary to
establish a finding that the conduct resulted from unwarrantabl e
failure. Southern Chio Coal Co., 13 FMSHRC 912, 919 (June 1991). The
Commi ssion's requirenent that the operator denonstrate a good faith and
reasonabl e belief that it was pursuing the safest nethod of conplying
wi th applicable regulations is anal ogous to the Conmi ssion's doctrine
that a mner's work refusal is protected when he entertains a
reasonabl e, good faith belief that his assigned duties involve a hazard.
Secretary on behalf of Robinette v. United Castle Coal Co., 3 FMSHRC
803, 808-12 (April 1981).

AAAAAAAAAAAA
FOOTNOTE 1
Al'l dates are 1991.
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An operator's belief that his viol 0000e conduct was the safest method of
conmplying with MSHA regul ati ons nust be both reasonable and held in good
faith in order to establish a defense to a charge of unwarrantabl e
failure. Southern Chio Coal Co., supra; see Robinette, supra. "Good
faith belief sinmply neans honest belief"” that the conduct constitutes
the safest nethod of conplying with applicable regulations. See
Robi nette, 3 FMSHRC at 810. But a good faith belief in and of itself is
not sufficient to defend against the unwarrant- able failure charge.
"Good faith also inplies an acconpanying rule requiring validation of
reasonabl e belief." 1d. at 811. 1In the work refusal context, the
Commi ssi on has held that reasonabl eness "is a sinple requirenent that
the miner's honest perception be a reasonable one under the
circunstances.” Id. at 812 (enphasis in original). Simlarly, in the
unwar - rantable failure setting, the operator's good faith belief should
meet the sane requirenent.

A

Bearing in mnd that "in reviewi ng the whole record, an appellate
tribunal nust also consider anything in the record that "fairly
detracts' fromthe weight of the evidence that supports a chall enged
finding," (Asarco Mning Co., 15 FMSHRC 1303, 1307 (July 1993), citing
Uni versal Camera Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U. S. 474, 488 (1951)), it is ny view
that the judge made credibility determ nati ons whi ch cannot be squared
with his finding that White "had a good faith honest belief that he was
conplying with the regulations." 15 FMSHRC at 1978.

At the outset, | note that the good faith with which the Comm ssion nust
be con- cerned here has nothing to do with bl aneworthi ness or good
intentions. Rather, good faith sinply nmeans that the operator in fact
entertained the belief that his course of action was designed to safely
conply with applicable regulations. The good faith requirenment insures
that fraudul ent or deceptive operator clainms to be mistakenly acting in
accordance with MSHA regulations will not shield the operator from an
unwarrantable failure finding. See Robinette, 3 FMSHRC at 810. It is
therefore irrelevant for the purposes of the good faith inquiry whether
the operator is notivated to violate a safety standard in the hope or

expecta- tion that the result will be a safer working environment. |f
the operator believes that he is violating MSHA regul ations, his good
intentions will not translate into a good faith belief that he is safely

conplying with applicabl e standards.

Thus, the judge did not base his finding that Wiite acted in good faith
on White's notivation for naking the ventilation change. Rather, the
judge found that "White did not believe that 30 C.F. R 0O 75.316 required
that he obtain prior approval from MSHA before inplenenting changes in
the ventilation system" 15 FMSHRC at 1977. In explaining their
agreenent with the judge's unwarrantable failure finding, however, the
majority finds relevant the fact that "in directing the ventilation
change, Wiite was attenpting to inprove the mine's ventilation.” Slip
op. at 11. This conclusion nmisses the mark. Wile | accept at
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face value Basin's protestations that White was notivated by a desire to
i nprove the ventila- tion, unless it is shown that he believed that he
was conplying with MSHA regul ati ons, he cannot be found to have acted in
good faith.

The judge found White's belief that section 75.316 permtted himto
change the ventilation before getting MSHA approval to be "based on the
| anguage in the regulations and his previous experience," and he
concluded that "this evidence is credible." 15 FMSH RC at 1977. Thus,
t he judge's concl usion regardi ng unwarrantable failure was based, at
least in part, on credibility determinations. The judge apparently
credited White's testinony regarding what White believed to be his
obl i gati ons under section 75.316. The judge offered no expl anati on why
he found Wiite's testinmony concerning the requirements under section
75.316 to be "credible" when, at the same time, he determ ned Wiite was
not telling the truth regarding the events that |led up to his decision
to inplenent the ventilation change.

White's deputies, Steve Sal azar and David Huey, testified that in the
course of discussing White's proposed ventil ati on changes, they warned
hi m of the need to obtain prior approval from MSHA. Tr. 63-64, 80-82.
White flatly denied receiving these warnings. Tr. 240. The judge,
however, credited the testimony of the deputies, concluding: "It is
true that Sal azar and Huey told White prior notification was necessary."
15 FMSHRC at 1977. According to Salazar, Wite responded to the warning
about the need for prior approval by stating that "he was in charge of
t he operation, not MSHA, and that he was going to run the operation."
Tr. 64; see also Tr. 82. This comrent is hardly indicative of someone
who is attenpting in good faith to ascertain his obligation under the
law. Neither the judge nor ny coll eagues di scuss this coment, which
view as detracting mghtily fromthe conclusion that Wite was acting in
good faith. Nor do they discuss the inpact of Wite's untruthful- ness
here on the judge's finding credible White's asserted belief that
section 75.316 permtted Wiite to nake major ventilation changes w t hout
pri or MSHA approval .

Simlarly, Inspector Jordan testified that he specifically warned White
just days before the incident that MSHA approval was required before any
change to the ventilation plan could be made. Tr. 53. Again, Wite
deni ed that Jordan warned himto contact MSHA first. Tr. 264. There is
no hint in the judge's decision that he even considered the differing
versions of Jordan and White, much |l ess that he credited White over
Jordan concerning this conversation, as nmy colleagues inply. Slip op
at 12. Yet this evidence bears directly on whether White in
AAAAAAAAAAA
FOOTNOTE 2

Indeed it is difficult to imgine a situation in which an operator would
del i berately reverse the direction of the air flow wi thout intending to
i mprove the ventilation. Good intentions, however, don't always
translate into safe results. Between Sunday, when White inplenented the
ventilation change, and Tuesday morni ng, when MSHA arrived at the mne
the m ners were working under a ventilation scheme that, while it
represented White's view of the best way to provide air to the No. 1
longwal |, did not have the benefit of MSHA's revi ew and approval. Tr.

55, 208. During this time, the mne apparently experienced nethane



accurrul ations resulting in the cessation of operations for over an hour.
Tr. 329.
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fact believed that he was conplying with MSHA regul ati ons when he
made the ventilation change.

As the judge did not find White to be a credible witness concerning his
deputies' explicit warning that prior notification of MSHA was
necessary, and because he failed to even discuss Jordan's testinony that
Jordan had specifically warned Wite about the require- nent of prior
MSHA approval , the judge's conclusion that Wiite's action was based on
an honest good faith belief that he was conplying with section 75.316
cannot be said to be supported by substantial evidence.

B

Equal | y damagi ng to the judge's unwarrantable failure conclusion is his
failure to discuss the reasonabl eness requirenent at all or reach a
conclusion with respect thereto. Because an operator seeking to avoid
t he unwarrantabl e failure sanction nust establish reasonabl eness in
addition to good faith, the judge's conclusion that "[t]here was no
unwar - rantable failure because the operator through its nanager had a
good faith honest belief that he was conplying with the regul ations" is,
as a matter of law, erroneous. 15 FMSHRC at 1978. This fornul ation by
t he judge addresses only half of the two-pronged test under the good
faith reasonabl e belief defense to unwarrantable failure.

The | anguage of section 75.316 casts serious doubt on the reasonabl eness
of White's belief that he could unilaterally deviate fromthe approved
ventilation plan. Section 75.316 tracked section 303(0) of the M ne
Act, 30 U . S.C. O 863(0), and provided in pertinent part:

A ventilation system and met hane and dust control plan

and revisions thereof suitable to the conditions and the mining
AAAAAAAAAAA
FOOTNOTE 3

Jordan testified: "W had discussed it and, if | renenber correctly, |
indicated to M. Wite, whatever he did, to nake sure that approval was
obtai ned before it was done." Tr. 53. Enphasizing the phrase "if |
remenber correctly," the majority characterizes Jordan's testinony as
"uncertain." Slip op. at 12. | disagree. | construe Jordan's words as
a comon | ocution enployed by witnesses on the stand, rather than as a
gquery whet her Jordan is in fact inventing the conversation to which he
himself is testifying. 1In any event, the point here is that whatever |
or the magjority believe this phrase neans, we cannot know what the judge
thought it nmeant, since he did not advert to Jordan's testinony at all

FOOTNOTE 4

The judge's failure to even address the reasonabl eness question is not
cured by the magjority's finding that "[t]he judge inplicitly found that
VWhite's belief was reasonable . . .- ." Slip op. at 12 (enphasis added).
As we have already had occasion to observe in this case, "[a] judge must
anal yze and wei gh the relevant testinony, make appropriate findings, and
explain the reasons for his decision." Slip op. at 10, citing
M d- Conti nent Resources, Inc., 16 FMSHRC 1218, 1222 (June 1994) and

Anaconda Co., 3 FMSHRC 299, 299-300 (February 1981).
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system of the coal mne and approved by the Secretary
shall be adopted by the operator and set out in printed form
on or before June 28, 1970.

30 CF.R 0O 75.316 (enphasis added).

| fail to see how the plain |anguage of section 75.316 supports a view
that an operator is free to deviate fromits approved ventilation plan
as long as that operator subsequently inforns MSHA. |Indeed it would
appear that by requiring an operator to adopt a ventilation plan that is
approved by the Secretary, the opposite assunption should arise: that
an operator is not free to deviate fromthe ventilation requirenments
Wi t hout prior recourse to the approval process that created them The
specific requirement that "revisions" to the plan also be "approved" by
the Secretary lends further support to this view.

The judge found that when White was told about the need to inform MSHA
of his planned ventil ation change, he read section 75.316 and st ated,
"Show me in the book where it says | have to notify MSHA of this
change. " 15 FMSHRC at 1977. VWhite apparently took the view that, since
section 75.316 did not contain |anguage explicitly prohibiting variance
fromthe approved ventilation plan, he was free to deviate fromthe pl an
and sinply inform MSHA about it later. M colleagues and the judge
bel ow apparently consider it reasonable that White could reach this

conclusion after reading section 75.316. | decline to affirma judge's
ruling which appears to accept as reasonable a view of the | aw which
find to be not only illogical, but also contradicted by the regulatory

| anguage and the case | aw.

The case | aw concerning enforcenent of ventilation plans undernines the
reasonabl e- ness of any belief on Wite's part that he could
unilaterally change the ventilation plan. A manager of Wiite's
experience may be fairly charged with knowl edge of the basic hol di ngs
under the Mne Act, just as a mner claimng to have engaged in a
protected work refusal may be charged under certain circunstances with
know edge of the applicable safety standard. See Secretary on behal f of
Boswel | v. National Cenment Co., Inc., No. SE 93-48- DM 16 FMSHRC __ |
slip op. at 8 (August 17, 1994) (Chairman Jordan, concurring). It is
wel | established under Conm ssion and court precedent that once a
ventilation plan is approved and adopted, its provisions and revisions
are enforceabl e as mandatory standards. UMM v. Dole, 870 F.2d 662, 671
(D.C. Cir. 1989); Freeman United Coal Mning Co, 11 FMSHRC 161, 164
(February 1989); Jim Walter Resources Inc., 9 FMSHRC 903, 907 ( My
1987). Just as it would be unreasonable for an operator to assume that
it could deviate fromthe requirenments of a nmandatory safety standard,
it is equally unreasonable for an operator to assume that it may
unil aterally change its approved ventilation plan, which is enforceable
as a mandatory safety standard
AAAAAAAAAAA
FOOTNOTE 5

White has worked in the mining industry since 1965. Tr. 244,
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The judge's decision fails to analyze the reasonabl eness of White's
belief in the context of the |anguage of section 75.316 or the cases
interpreting that standard. Modreover, the majority's conclusion that
VWite's interpretation of section 75.316 was reasonable conflicts with
the judge's stated view that "[i]f the Comm ssion accepts White's theory
then the ventilation regul ati ons would be nmeani ngl ess.” 15 FMSHRC at
1972. On this last point at |east the judge was on target. Obviously,
if an operator were pernmtted to change its approved ventilation plan at

will, and notify MSHA post hoc, section 75.316's requirenent that the
m ne operate under a "ventilation . . . plan and revisions thereof
approved by the Secretary” would be a nullity. | amunable to conclude

that an operator who insists on acting in accordance with a view of the
| aw t hat makes the ventilation requirements "mean- ingless" should be
considered to entertain a reasonable belief that his conduct conplies
with the ventilation regulation.

The case mi ght be otherwi se had White been faced with an energency
requiring i mediate action w thout the possibility of contacting MSHA
But the judge made no such finding, and the record here certainly does
not suggest this was the case. The record in fact contains significant
evi dence that undercuts any claimthat Wite was confronted with an
unexpect ed emergency situation which prevented him from obtaining the
necessary prior approval from MSHA.

Thus, Inspector Denning testified that the conditions pronpting the air
change had devel oped over an extended period of tinme, and that proper
pl ans coul d have been submitted to and approved by MSHA. Tr. 137-38.
I nspector Jordan descri bed the problem as an "ongoi ng" one that had been
occurring for at least two to three weeks. Tr. 41. According to him
Vi te's unaut horized changes to the ventilation system converted what
had been a "borderline"” probleminto an "imm nent danger” pronpting the
i ssuance of a withdrawal order on the evening of Tuesday, June 25. Tr.
36. Basin's project engineer described the problemas occurring "off
and on fromearly June up to the 21st." Tr. 419. It is also clear from
the record that White did not need to fear that any increase in the
severity of the problemwould go undetected. M ne Foreman Sal azar
expl ai ned that subsequent to an expl osi on which had occurred five nonths
earlier, enployees were nonitoring the area "24 hours a day" and were
working with MSHA on the ventilation in that area. Tr. 62; see Tr. 27.
Mor eover, as counsel for Basin conceded at oral argunent, there is
nothing in the record that indicates MSHA warned Wiite that he nm ght be
cited unless he made significant changes in the ventilation system
Oral Arg. Tr. 43.

The cl osest the judge conmes to even hinting at the existence of an
exigent situation is his conclusion that "White felt he could have been
cited for failing to correct the problens in
AAAAAAARAAA
FOOTNOTE 6

The record contains conflicting testinony about whether Wite's changes
caused the conditions which pronpted the issuance of the i mr nent danger
order. Because the judge failed to reconcile the conflict and neke the
necessary findings of fact, the Conm ssion has vacated the S&S finding
and remanded for additional proceedings. Slip op. at 8-10.
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the ventilation system" 15 FMSHRC at 1977. But the judge failed to
di scuss any evidence relating to this issue, nor did he make any
findings of fact which would allow us to conclude that White's concern
in this regard was in fact reasonable.

The majority relies on the explicit requirenent in section 75.370, the
successor to section 75.316, that mmjor changes to the ventilation
system nust be submitted to and approved by the MSHA district manager
before inmplenmentation. Slip op. at 12. M colleagues also cite MSHA
i nspector Denning's testinmony to the effect that section 75.316 provided
"no guidance" for m ne operators as to the type of changes that could be
made wi t hout prior approval, and they point to the Secretary's position
at oral argunment that, absent the cover letter, prior approval was not

required. 1d. On the basis of this evidence, the majority concl udes
that it "does not find unreasonable White's good faith belief that prior
approval was not required." Id.

FOOTNOTE 7

The judge's sole record reference to the conditions in the mne prior to
the ventilation change is a parenthetical instruction to "see Exhibit
BR-1" in order to learn of "apparent problens in the system" 15 FMSHRC
at 1977. BR-1 consists of a 3-page typed chronolo- gy covering the
period fromJune 1 through June 29 with 279 pages of supporting
docunents including preshift, daily and on-shift reports. It is
certainly not apparent fromthese exam nation reports that conditions
arose which caused White to decide on Friday, June 21, that he nust
i mpl ement i mredi at e changes. Indeed the opposite conclusion arises.

For instance, under the heading "Violation or Hazardous Condition," the
preshift examfor the Northwest longwall at 4:00 a.m that day reports

"[n] one observed."” The on-shift report shows the highest |evel of
met hane to be 0.5% and reports that the area was "safe at tinme of
i nspection.” The preshift at 1:04 p.m on June 21 reports no hazardous

conditions and the highest nethane |level to be 0.5% the same reading
reported in the on-shift report for that evening. The six exam nation
reports dated June 22 |ikew se reflect nmethane | evels well under 1%
(al though the chronol ogy prepared by White inexplicably refers to a
reading of 1.1 - 1.3%for that date).

The judge's conclusion that White feared being cited for failing to
change the ventilation systemnmght be a reference to White's testinony
that other regulations, such as 30 CF. R 0O 75.308 and 75.309, nandate
changes or adjustments when certain | evels of nmethane are found in
specified areas of the mine. Tr. 248-49, 370. O course, whether Wite
actually considered these regulations at the tinme he nade his decision
is open to question since, according to the version of events described
by White's deputies and accepted by the judge, it would appear that
VWhite's sole reference in determining his obligation to obtain prior
aut horization from MSHA was section 75.316. 15 FMSHRC at 1977. \While
reliance on these other regul ations mght be a rel evant consideration in
assessi ng whet her an operator acted unwarrantably, the judge has nmade no
findings which would allow us to conclude either that Wiite in fact
relied on these regulations or that such reliance was reasonabl e under
t he circunstances.
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This conclusion is unfounded. The conmentary acconpanyi ng MSHA' s
rul emaki ng indicates that MSHA viewed the prior approval requirenment for
maj or ventilation changes as a continuation of the practice already in
exi stence. 57 Fed. Reg. 20868, 20899 (May 15, 1992). Moreover, while
I nspect or Denni ng may not have been able to point to exact guidelines
that spelled out the type of ventilation changes that could not be nmde
wi t hout prior approval, he was certain that "[a] mmjor change, such as
reversing the air in an air course, would definitely require approval."
Tr. 173. Finally, the comrent of Secretary's counsel that the mpjority
rely on to support the reasonabl eness of Wite's belief has itself been
rejected as an unreasonable view of the regulation. Slip op. at 7.

Whet her White coul d reasonably conclude he did not need MSHA's prior
aut hori za- tion nmust be determ ned on the basis of the particular
circunstances confronting Wiite at the tine. |In this regard, | consider
it relevant that when White decided to unilaterally inplenent the
ventilation change, the mine in question was a gassy mne and only five
nmont hs earlier had experienced a nmaj or expl osion which caused varying
degrees of injury to eleven niners. Tr. 27, 39. Moreover, the
expl osion occurred in the very section of the mne, the Northwest No. 1
| ongwal | panel, where White planned to change the ventilation design.

Tr. 142-43. It seens to nme these facts al one, which were not considered
by the judge, would seriously underm ne the reasonabl eness of White's
belief that no prior authorization from MSHA was needed before

i mpl enenting changes that significantly departed fromthe approved
ventilation plan. Here, however, we have the additional fact that Wite
reversed the air flowin the face of explicit warnings by his two
subordi nates that MSHA insisted on approving ventilation changes at the
Gol den Eagle Mne prior to their inplementation. Tr. 63-64, 80-82. The
j udge shoul d have considered whether Wiite's insistence on going forward
under these circunmstances, when he could have easily picked up the phone
and clarified his obliga- tions,

PR

FOOTNOTE 8

Before inplenmenting a change of this magnitude, White had to idle the
m ne and shut off the power; White's change was therefore a far cry from
merely adjusting a line curtain or opening a regulator, the kinds of
adj ustnments to ventilation that Inspectors Denning and Reitz testified
were authorized by 30 CF. R 0O 75.308 and 75.309 and would not require
prior approval. Tr. 157, 189-90, 207-08. \White hinself seened to
recogni ze the distinction. While he provided MSHA with post-hoc
notification of his air reversal, he did not feel it necessary to
provi de even such after-the-fact notification when he opened a regul at or

to provide nore air on the longwall. Tr. 261-62.
FOOTNOTE 9
I nspector Jordan testified that the Golden Eagle M ne "is nunber one in
the State of Col orado for nethane |iberation." Tr. 26.
FOOTNOTE 10

Al t hough White took over the operation of the m ne on June 1, he had
been at the property on a daily basis since April 9 and during that tinme
| earned about the explosion that occurred. Tr. 339-40.



FOOTNOTE 11

At oral argument, counsel for the Secretary confirned that soneone from
MSHA woul d have been avail able on the weekend to handle calls. Oral
Arg. Tr. 35.
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anounted to a willful intent to remain in the dark about what section
75. 316 required. The judge shoul d have determ ned whet her such action
fell outside the protection of the good faith and reasonabl e beli ef
defense the Comnmi ssion has articul ated, and accordingly constitut- ed
aggravat ed conduct.

.

The judge's failure to reconcile inconsistent credibility
determ nations, and his failure to consider evidence which detracts from
a finding that White acted reasonably and in good faith, cause me to
concl ude that the judge's finding of no unwarrantable failure is not
supported by substantial evidence and should therefore be vacated and
the matter remanded for further proceedings. Wth respect to the
Secretary's assessnment of a civil penalty against Wite personally
pursuant to section 110(c) of the Mne Act, the judge nmerely stated,
"The evidence as to Wite has been previously reviewed. H s conduct was
not 'aggravated.'" 15 FMSHRC at 1981. Because the judge's analysis of
t hat evi dence was flawed, as | have detail ed above, | would also vacate
and remand the judge's section 110(c) fi nding.

Mary Lu Jordan, Chairman



